E FEB 14 FILE WASHINGTON STAT PREME COURT

2011 FE3

 $\overline{\mathbf{\omega}}$

 \mathbf{N}

S80

No. 94128.9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 74320-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GARY PETER WAY and KRISTIN KIRCHNER,

Petitioners,

v.

MARJORY E. WAY, TRUSTEE OF THE PETER J. & MARJORY E. WAY LIVING TRUST,

Respondent.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Snohomish County (Cause No. 15-2-04284-8)

> PETITION FOR REVIEW (CORRECTED)

Mark J. Wilson, WSBA #16675 2331 46th Avenue SW Seattle, WA 98116 (206) 567-9826 <u>mjwilson@mjwilsonlawyer.com</u> Attorney for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Gary Peter Way and Kristin Kirchner were respondents in the trial court and appellants in the Court of Appeals.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of Division One's unpublished opinion, attached as Appendix A. The Court of Appeals denied petitioners' motion for reconsideration and motion to publish. The order on the motion for reconsideration and to motion to publish is attached as Appendix B to this petition.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to determine that the terms of the trust require <u>all</u> of the trust estate of the first deceased spouse be transferred to Trust A upon his or her death?¹ (Opinion, pp. 5-6 and 8).

2. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to disregard the terms of the trust contained in Paragraph 6, <u>Remainder of Trust Estate</u> and the second sentence of Paragraph 7, <u>Contents of</u> <u>Trust A</u>, which provide that Trust A does <u>not</u> contain <u>any</u> portion of the first deceased spouse's share of the trust estate that is distributed pursuant to Paragraph 6 to specific beneficiaries upon his or her death? (Opinion, pp. 5-6).

3. Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly conclude that the gift of the remainder to Gary and Kristin in Schedule E was not a "specific bequest?" (Opinion, pp. 8-9).

4. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to refuse to consider, as having been abandoned by Gary and Kristin, the argument that Marjory did not intend to fund Trust A if she were the first deceased spouse, despite provisions pertaining to Trust A contained in the terms of the trust? (Opinion, pp. 11-12).

¹ A copy of the trust is attached as Appendix C.

5. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to have refused to consider, as having been abandoned by Gary and Kristin, arguments that under the "last antecedent" and *ejusdem generis* rules of construction, "remainder" in Schedule E refers to Peter's trust estate upon his death? (Opinion, pp. 11-12).

6. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to deem Gary and Kristin's counterclaims for fraud, breach of contract, specific performance and attorney fees as having been abandoned? (Opinion, pp. 11 and 16).

7. Was it error for the Court of Appeals to uphold the Trial Court's award of attorney fees to Marjory on grounds Gary and Kristin made no showing of abuse of discretion by the Trial Court? (Opinion, p. 16).

8. Does the decision by the Court of Appeals raise issues of significant public interest?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Surrounding circumstances

Peter met Marjory a short time after his wife of 31 years, Carol Way (formerly Kirchner), died in June 2005. CP 1416-1417. Peter was 71 years old at the time and Marjory was 65 years old. They each had children from former marriages. CP 1546. Gary was Peter's son from his first marriage to Kathleen. Peter also had a step-son, Greg Kirchner, who was Carol's son from a former marriage. CP 1507.

Marjory had two daughters, Karen Martin and Tracey Cummings. CP 1584.

Peter and Marjory married on September 24, 2006, after entering into a prenuptial agreement. CP 1547, 895-903, 858-861.

2

The prenuptial agreement recites that each party "has relatives who are the natural objects of [his]/[her] beneficence" and that each party's separate property is to remain their separate property "to enable each to dispose of his or her assets as he or she wishes at death." CP 897.

Marjory filed a petition for divorce from Peter on August 16, 2011, to which Peter filed a Joinder. CP 949, 817, 821, 1439, 1511. The divorce petition was still pending at the time Peter and Marjory signed the declaration of trust on February 29, 2012 and still pending at the time of Peter's death on June 4, 2012. CP 949, 823.

Peter and Marjory signed a Decree of Dissolution and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on December 9, 2011, which were never filed with the divorce court, but in which they confirmed their prenuptial agreement. CP 867-874, 875-882, 902, 903.

Under Schedule E of the trust, Peter gives Marjory his separate property condominium and Toyota automobile upon his death. After Peter died and before filing the TEDRA Petition in this case, Marjory sold the condominium and received proceeds of \$482,419.93. CP 1012.

Attorney William Zingarelli prepared the will and trust using a form he obtained on the Internet as a template.² CP 263. He used the form tust10 or 20 times previously. CP 451, 261. Mr. Zingarelli drafted the Schedules himself, but could not recall drafting the Schedules used in the Way Trust. CP 263.

Mark Wilson, legal counsel for Gary and Kristin, was able to go on the Internet, purchase and download the same form from the same website that Mr. Zingarelli used. CP 468-500. The terms of the trust Mr. Wilson purchased are the same as the Way trust, the only difference being the template trust form contains blanks for information the user is to fill, such as the name of the trust, names of the settlors, trustees and beneficiaries and the property, terms and beneficiaries to be listed on Schedules A thru E. CP 475-494.

² A copy of Peter's Will is attached as Appendix D.

The trust is essentially a fill-in-the-blanks, do-it-yourself form, intended to be used by lay persons and the general public. CP 470-474.

2. Direction and terms of the trust.

One of the objectives of the trust is to safeguard the settlor's property rights and testamentary powers over their individual shares of the trust estate. That was also one of the objectives of the prenuptial agreement.

The following are some of the pertinent terms and the direction of the Way trust.

According to Paragraph 2, the settlors transfer, set aside and "hold separately any and all of their interest" in the property attached in schedules A, B and C" and "[t]hat property described as separate property shall remain separate property and that property described as shared property shall remain shared property in the same manner as it was shared before being placed in the Trust."

Paragraph 3 protects the interests of each settlor in their shares of the estate property during both their livess:

. . .

3. <u>Reserved Powers of the Settlors</u>. At all times while both Settlors are alive, Settlors shall retain the following powers:

D. <u>**Trust Estate</u>**. Both Settlors reserve the shared right to all income, profits and control of the Trust Estate property described in Schedule A.</u>

- At all times during her lifetime MARJORY E. WAY reserves the right to all income, profits and control of the Trust Estate property described as her separate property in Schedule B.
- (ii) At all times during his lifetime PETER J. WAY reserves the right to all income, profits and control of the Trust Estate property described as his separate property in Schedule C.

Paragraph 6 delineates each settlor's testamentary rights over their share of the trust

property and Paragraph 6, Remainder of Trust Estate, describes and limits the property to be

transferred to Trust A, as follows:

6. Trust Beneficiaries.

<u>Wife's Beneficiaries</u>. Upon the death of MARJORY E. WAY, <u>her portion</u> of the Trust Estate, to include her share of the property listed in Schedule A, as well as <u>any</u> separate property listed in Schedule B <u>shall be</u> <u>distributed</u> in accordance with the terms and to the Beneficiaries <u>named in</u> <u>Schedule D, attached</u>.

<u>Husband's Beneficiaries</u>. Upon the death of PETER J. WAY, <u>his portion</u> of the Trust Estate, to include his share of the property listed in Schedule A, as well as <u>any</u> separate property listed in Schedule C, <u>shall be</u> <u>distributed</u> in accordance with the terms and to the Beneficiaries <u>named in</u> <u>Schedule E, attached</u>.

Remainder of Trust Estate. Upon the death of one spouse, <u>any</u> remaining property of the deceased spouse, including one half of the shared property in Schedule A and any separate property in the appropriate Schedule B or C, in the Trust Estate, <u>which was not distributed</u> to the aforementioned Beneficiaries, including remaining property which was not distributed as above due to the prior death of the Beneficiary, <u>shall</u> be transferred and administered as part of Trust A, as herein provided.

(Emphasis added).

The words "upon the death" and "shall be distributed" indicate the distributions are to be

made to specific beneficiaries upon the death of the settlor and are mandatory and

nondiscretionary upon the trustee.

Paragraph 6, above, encompasses the settlor's entire trust estate and indicates he or she has absolute testamentary power over it. Use of the word "any" indicates there is no limit on the portion of his or her share of the estate each settlor may bequeath to specific beneficiaries upon his or her death, pursuant to the applicable Schedules D or E. Either settlor may bequeath his or her entire share to specific beneficiaries if they wish, which is exactly what Peter and Marjory each chose to do, as indicated in their respective Schedules D (Marjory) and E (Peter), as

follows:

SCHEDULE D

[Marjory]

<u>Pursuant to Paragraph 6</u> of the Declaration of Trust, dated February 29, 2012, the Trust Estate property of MARJORY E. WAY <u>shall be distributed</u> to the following Specific Beneficiaries upon the following terms:

Karin Martin Ferndale, WA	Daughter	50% per stirpes
Tracey Cummings Carnation, WA	Daughter	50%; if she predeceases, then to Karin Martin, per stirpes.

(Emphasis added).

SCHEDULE E

[Peter]

. . . D

. . .

<u>Pursuant to Paragraph 6</u> of the Declaration of Trust, dated February 29, 2012, the Trust Estate property of PETER J. WAY <u>shall be distributed</u> to the following Specific Beneficiaries upon the following terms:

SPECIFIC BEQUESTS:

In the event Marjory Way survives Peter Way then she shall inherit the real property condominium, Parcel number. 00699800111300 and the vehicle, VIN STEEW41A092030311. 2009 Toyota Highlander

Gary Peter Way	son	50% of remainder; if he predeceases, then 50% to his wife, Elena Way, if they were were still married at the time of his death
Kristin Kirchner	daughter-in-law	50% of remainder. If she predeceases, then 50% to her then living children in equal shares.

(Emphasis added).

Pursuant to Paragraph 6, <u>Remainder of Trust Estate</u>, above, upon the death of one spouse, "any remaining property of the deceased spouse, which was <u>not</u> distributed" to the beneficiaries designated by the deceased spouse in the preceding Paragraph 6, <u>Wife's Beneficiaries</u> or <u>Husband's Beneficiaries</u>, shall be transferred and administered as part of Trust A, as herein provided." (Emphasis added). According to Marjory and Peter's respective Schedules D and E, they each bequeathed their entire shares to their own children from their prior marriages.

Paragraph 7 describes the creation and funding of Trust A upon the death of the first deceased spouse and provides that the contents of Trust A does <u>not</u> include any portion of the Trust Estate given to a specific Beneficiary under the terms of Paragraph 6, set forth above, which is consistent Paragraph 6, <u>Remainder of Trust Estate</u>, which places similar limits on the property to be transferred to Trust A. Paragraph 7 provides in pertinent part, as follows:

7. Creation of Trust A and Trust B. Upon the death of the first spouse, the surviving spouse, as Trustee, shall divide the entirety of the Trust Estate of [the trust] into two separate trusts, Trust A and Trust B, and shall continue to serve as Trustee for both Trusts...

<u>Contents of Trust A.</u> All of the property of [the trust] owned by the deceased spouse, to include one half of the value of shared Property in Schedule A, as well as any separate property described in Schedule B or C, as applicable, shall be transferred to Trust A. This includes any earned and accumulated income or appreciation in value attributable to his/her ownership interest in the aforementioned property, but does not include any portion of the Trust Estate given to a specific Beneficiary under the terms of Paragraph 6...

(ii) Life Beneficiary of Trust A. Upon the death of the deceased spouse and the creation of Trust A, the surviving spouse shall become the Life Beneficiary of Trust A....

(Emphasis added) (The underlined portion of Contents of Trust A, above, is omitted from the

Opinion, p. 6).

According to the terms of Paragraph 6, <u>Remainder of Trust A</u>, Schedules D and E and the second sentence of <u>Contents of Trust A</u> in Paragraph 7, whichever settlor was the first deceased spouse, neither Marjory or Peter intended to leave any remainder of their share of the trust estate to be transferred to Trust A, since they each bequeathed their entire trust estates to their respective children as specific beneficiaries, to be distributed to them upon their death.

Paragraph 8, <u>Administration of Trust A</u>, is only created, funded and operative if there is any remaining portion of the first deceased spouse's trust estate to administer after the mandatory, nondiscretionary distributions have been made to specific beneficiaries pursuant to Paragraph 6 and the applicable Schedule D or E.

If Marjory, as the surviving spouse and trustee of the trust, had distributed Peter's trust estate upon his death, as she was required to do, according to Paragraph 6 and Schedule E, there would not have been any portion of Peter's trust estate remaining to transfer to Trust A.

Marjory's daughters are named as specific beneficiaries in her Schedule D and final beneficiaries under Paragraph 8, but Marjory bequeath her entire trust estate to them under Schedule D to receive her entire trust upon her death, so Paragraph 8 will not be operative. Upon Marjory's death, they will receive Marjory's bequests of her entire estate as Specific Beneficiaries under Schedule D and will not receive anything as Final Beneficiaries of the remainder of Trust A under Paragraph 8 because there will not be anything left after they receive their bequests under Schedule D.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The Court of Appeals did not give due regard to the direction of the trust and the true intent and meaning of Peter.

The Court of Appeals interpreted the trust as requiring that all of Peter's share of the trust estate was to be transferred to Trust A upon his death. This interpretation is incorrect because the Court of Appeals disregards Paragraph 6, <u>Remainder of Trust Estate</u> and the second sentence of Paragraph 7, <u>Contents of Trust A</u>, which provides in clear, unambiguous terms, that any portion of the deceased spouse's estate distributed to specific beneficiaries pursuant to Paragraph 6 are <u>not</u> to be included in Trust A. (See, above at pp. 5 and 7)

The decisions of this Court and those of the Court of Appeals of this state have consistently held that a court's paramount duty in construing a testamentary instrument is to give effect to the maker's intent. (Opinion, p. 3, citing <u>In re Estate of Bernard</u>, 182 Wn. App. 692, 697 n.1, 332 P.3d 480, 483 (2014); and see, <u>Carney v. Johnson</u>, 70 Wn.2d 193, 197, 422 P.2d 486 (1967); <u>In re Estate of Douglas</u>, 65 Wn.2d 495, 499, 398 P.2d 7 (1965); and <u>In re Estate of Riemcke</u>, 80 Wn.2d 722, 728, 497 P.2d 1319, 1323 (1972). That intent is determined from the instrument as a whole, and its specific provisions must be construed in light of the entire document. (Opinion, p. 3; and see, <u>In re Estate of Magee</u>, 75 Wn.2d 826, 829, 454 P.2d 402 (1969); <u>In re Estate of Shaw</u>, 69 Wn.2d 238, 241, 417 P.2d 942 (1966); <u>In re Estate of Johnson</u>, 46 Wn.2d 308, 312, 280 P.2d 1034 (1955); <u>In re Estate of Riemcke</u>, 80 Wn.2d at 728.

RCW 11.12.230, also requires courts to have due regard to the direction of the will and true intent and meaning of the testator in all matters brought before them.

However, the Court of Appeals did not have due regard to the provisions in Paragraph 6, <u>Remainder of Trust Estate</u> and the second sentence of Paragraph 7, <u>Contents of Trust A</u>. These provisions are critically important to a correct interpretation of the trust, but they are not considered and are inexplicably omitted from the passages from the trust quoted in the opinion.

Disregard by the Court of Appeals of the omitted provisions in Paragraph 6, <u>Remainder</u> of <u>Trust Estate</u> and the second sentence of Paragraph 7, <u>Contents of Trust A</u> is only explanation for the erroneous conclusion that **all** of Peter's trust estate was to be transferred to Trust A upon Peter's death: :

The opinion states that adopting Gary and Kristin's interpretation of Schedule E would render Paragraphs 7 and 8 meaningless. (Opinion, p. 9) However, the opposite is true. By adopting Marjory's interpretation, as the Court of Appeals has done, renders the bequests Marjory and Peter make in Schedules D and E meaningless and contrary to the intent of both settlors at the time they signed the trust.

The opinion deprives Peter of his right to dispose of his property by will, which is a valuable right this Court has long recognized and is a right protected by statute. In re Estate of Price, 75 Wn.2d 884, 886, 454 P.2d 411, 412 (1969); citing In re Meagher's Estate, 60 Wn.2d 691, 375 P.2d 148 (1962); and In re Gordon's Estate, 52 Wn.2d 470, 326 P.2d 340 (1958).

The Court's opinion conflicts with this Court's precedent by disregarding the trust as a whole and not giving effect to all its provisions. For these reasons the Court should review the opinion.

2. The Court of Appeals decided in error to refuse to consider Gary and Kristin's argument that Marjory did not intend to fund Trust A if she were the first deceased spouse.

The Court of Appeals refused to consider Gary and Kristin's argument that Marjory, like Peter, did not intend to fund Trust A or leave a life estate for the other, despite the existence of provisions in the trust pertaining to Trust A. (Opinion, pp. 11-12). The grounds the opinion gives for this refusal is its determination that Gary and Kristin abandoned them by not raising them in their Opening Brief.

Gary and Kristin did raise this argument in their Opening Brief. (Appellants' Opening Brf., p. 22). Marjory argued in her Respondent's Brief that such an argument was absurd, given the extensive provisions pertaining to Trust A. (Respondent's Brf., p. 9). Gary and Kristin replied in their Reply Brief that their interpretation of Marjory's Schedule D was not absurd, given the terms of the trust as a whole and the respective Schedules D and E and given the surrounding circumstances at the time Peter and Marjory signed the trust. (Appellants' Reply Brief, pp. 10-13). Clearly, Gary and Kristin did not abandon this argument.

Marjory clearly intends in her Schedule D to leave her entire trust estate to her daughters, Karin and Tracey upon her death. There is no doubt from the terms, even if she were the first deceased spouse. There is also no doubt, given the terms of Schedule D that she did not intend to transfer any portion to Trust A or leave a life estate for Peter if she became the first deceased spouse, despite the provisions for the creation of Trust A.

This Court should accept review so that it can give due regard to the direction of Peter's trust, which is their right, pursuant to RCW 11.12.230.

3. The Court of Appeals misinterpreted the meaning and intent of "remainder" to Gary and Kristin in Schedule E.

The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that the gift of the "remainder" to Gary and Kristin in Schedule E refers to the remainder of Trust A, following a life estate in Marjory. (Opinion, pp. 5-8). However, this conclusion was based on the Court's disregard of the terms of Paragraphs 6 and 7, which define and limit the contents of Trust A, as discussed above.

Based on the Court's erroneous conclusion that the trust required <u>all</u> of Peter's share of the trust estate be transferred to Trust A upon Peter's death, to serve as a life estate for Marjory, the Court then concluded, erroneously, that "remainder" in Trust A must mean the remainder of Trust A upon Marjory's death.

11

The Court relied on the Black's Law Dictionary definition of "remainder" in further

support of its conclusion that "remainder" in Schedule E means the remainder of Trust A

following Marjory's life estate:

We turn, then, to the word "remainder," a primary focal point of the parties' arguments. In determining the meaning of the word, we look to Black's Law Dictionary. It defines remainder as:

> "A *future* interest arising in a third person — that is, someone other than the estate's creator, its initial holder, or the heirs of either — who is intended to take *after* the natural termination of the preceding estate."

The most natural reading of this word, given the context, is that Peter's intent was to provide to Gary and Kristin 50 percent of his property in the f**uture**, after the expiration of Marjory's life estate ("the preceding estate"). This reading is most consistent with the fact that the other provisions of the trust that we discussed previously expressly provide for such a life estate for Marjory. That life estate in Trust A is funded by all of Peter's property at the time of his death.

(Opinion, pp. 7-9) (emphasis in the original).

The Court of Appeals reads Black's definition too narrowly. Black's definition of

"remainder" actually supports Gary and Kristin's interpretation of "remainder" as used in

Schedule E to mean the remainder of Peter's estate upon Peter's death. (Black's Law Dictionary

1482 (10th ed. 2014)). Peter is the "estate creator," since he created the trust estate, which gave

rise to a "future interest" in Gary and Kristin. The "natural termination" of the "preceding

estate" was Peter's death.

The Court of Appeals rejects that Gary and Kristin's interpretation of "remainder" because the Court determined that the remainder of Peter's estate upon Peter's death is not a "future interest." (Opinion, pp. 7-8 and 10-11).

However, according to Black's Law Dictionary, Gary and Kristin have a "future interest" in the remainder of Peter's estate upon Peter's death. "Future interest" is defined in Black's as "a property interest in which the privilege of possession or of other enjoyment is future and not present." (Black's Law Dictionary 934 (10th ed. 2014)). Prior to Peter's death, Gary and Kristin's possession and enjoyment of the remainder of Peter's estate was in the future, assuming Peter did not change the gift to them in Schedule E during his lifetime. Therefore, prior to Peter's death, Gary and Kristin had an "estate in expectancy," which Black's defines as a "future interest." (Black's Law Dictionary 667, 934 (10th ed. 2014)).

Therefore, Gary and Kristin's interpretation of "remainder," as used in Schedule E, as meaning the remainder of Peter's trust estate upon Peter's death, is correct and consistent with the Black's Law Dictionary definition.

To interpret "remainder" in the context of Schedule E to mean the remainder of a life estate warps its meaning, contrary to the proper interpretation of trusts by the courts, as expressed in <u>Anderson.</u>

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