## MAR 1 3 2017 WASHINGTON STATE SUPPREME COURT

#### SUPREME COURT

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 94128-9

(Court of Appeals No. 74320-1-I)

## GARY P. WAY & KRISTIN KIRCHNER,

Appellants,

VS.

MARJORY E. WAY,

Respondent.

#### ANSWER OF RESPONDENT

Submitted By:
LORNA S. CORRIGAN
Lorna@NewtonKight.com
(WSBA #13101)
NEWTON • KIGHT L.L.P.
Attorneys for Respondent,
MARJORY WAY
1820 - 32nd Street
P.O. Box 79
Everett, Washington 98206
(425) 259-5106

##

## I. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Prior to decedent Peter Way's death, he and his wife, Marjory Way, entered into a Living Trust. The Trust provides that the estate of the first spouse to die would be divided into a Trust A and a Trust B. In multiple paragraphs, the Trust makes express provisions for a life estate in Trust A in the surviving spouse. For example, the Trust states in Paragraph 7 that "[u]pon the death of the deceased spouse, the surviving spouse shall become the Life Beneficiary of Trust A." Paragraph 8 of the Living Trust names Gary Way and Kristin Kirchner, 50% each, as the "Final Beneficiaries" of Peter's Trust A. It further states that "[u]pon the death of the Life Beneficiary, the Trustee shall distribute . . . Trust A to the . . . Final Beneficiaries provided in this Paragraph 8." Elsewhere, in Paragraph 6, the Living Trust provides that upon Peter's death his portion of the trust estate was to "be distributed in accordance with the terms and to the beneficiaries named in Schedule E, attached. . . . " Schedule E provides that Peter's Estate is to be distributed to the following Specific Beneficiaries upon the following terms:

## **SPECIFIC BEQUESTS**

In the event that Marjory . . . survives Peter . . . then she shall inherit the . . . condominium . . . and the . . . Toyota Highlander.

Gary Peter Way son 50% of the

remainder . . .

Kristin Kirchner daughter-in-law 50% of the

remainder . . .

Do the references to "remainder[s]" in Schedule E merely affirm the future interests of Gary and Kristin as the "Final Beneficiaries" named in Paragraph 8 of the Living Trust, who would take following the death of the life beneficiary, rather than create immediate bequests of all of Peter's estate, other than

the condominium and Toyota Highlander, to Gary and Kristin?

- B. Is the interpretation of the term "remainder" in Schedule E that Gary and Kristin will take from Peter's Trust estate only following the death of Marjory the only reasonable interpretation of that schedule because it is the only interpretation that reconciles all of the Trust language?
- C. <u>Is the Living Trust unambiguous given the fact that only one reasonable interpretation flows from the Trust language, such that extrinsic evidence of the Trustor's intent is inadmissible?</u>
- D. The Living Trust was drafted by an attorney whom Peter and Marjory Way consulted for estate planning work after Peter learned that he had lung cancer. After the attorney met with Peter and Marjory, the attorney met with his legal assistant, Kathleen Madsen. Ms. Madsen took notes of her meeting with the attorney. She testified, however, that she had not been present at the attorney's meeting with the Ways, and that she had no personal knowledge of the intent of Peter Way in executing the Living Trust. If the Trust is ambiguous, such that extrinsic evidence is admissible for purposes of proving the trustor's intent, are the notes of the legal assistant excepted from the hearsay prohibition of ER 802 by ER 803(a)(3) when offered to prove Peter's intent in executing the Living Trust, where the out-of-court declarant is the drafting attorney rather than Peter?
- E. Did Gary and Kristin abandon any error in the trial court's dismissal of their claims of breach of contract, fraud and specific performance where they failed to argue such error in their opening brief in the Court of Appeals?
- F. Did Gary and Kristin abandon any objection to the trial court's award of attorneys' fees to Marjory where they failed to present argument that the trial court abused its discretion under RCW 11.96A.150 in making the award from the Trust?

## II. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Husband and wife, Peter and Marjory Way, sought estate planning services from an attorney after Peter was diagnosed with lung cancer. CP 417, l. 20. The attorney drafted a joint, or "marital", trust for them (the "Living Trust", or the "Trust"), CP 1579, which they executed. *Id.* at ll. 21-23.

The Living Trust provided, upon the death of the first spouse, for the creation of a Trust A and a Trust B. Trust A consisted of the deceased spouse's separate property and his or her share of the shared marital property. Trust B consisted of the separate property of the surviving spouse and his or her portion of the shared marital property. CP 1573-74, ¶ 7.

Upon Peter's death, Marjory became the trustee of Trusts A and B. CP 1418, Il. 5-7. Some time thereafter, Marjory filed a TEDRA petition seeking clarification whether certain language in the Living Trust preserved a life estate in her as the surviving spouse, or gave Peter's son, Gary, and daughter-in-law, Kristin, the right to the immediate distribution of all of Peter's estate other than a condominium and car specifically bequeathed in the Trust to Marjory. CP 1564.

Gary and Kristin argued in response to the Petition that they were entitled to all of the estate other than those specific bequests to Marjory. CP 1552, Il. 8-15. They did so based on the inclusion in Schedule E to the Trust of references under the Caption "Specific Bequests", not only to specific bequests of the condo and car to Marjory, but also to 50% "remainder[s]" in both Gary and Kristin. CP 1553, Il. 3-7.

The drafting attorney was deposed in this case. He testified at that deposition that in drafting the Way Living Trust he used a form that he obtained from <u>legalForms,ilrg.com</u>, Maximillian Ventures, LLC. CP 260, Il. 13-22; deposition Exhibit 6, CP 429. He identified the form as an "AB Trust form . . . copyright 06-08." CP 449.

The form created a life estate in the surviving spouse, see deposition Ex. 6, CP 456, at  $\P$  7(ii), and provided for the naming of "Final Beneficiaries" who would receive their distributions on the death of the surviving spouse. Id. at  $\P$  8, CP 457. At the same time it reserved in the trustor a power, through the use of schedules to be attached to and incorporated in the trust, to make bequests from Trust property. Id. at  $\P$  6, CP 455. The form also provided that there would be no distributions until the death of both spouses. Id. at  $\P$  6. The

drafting attorney testified that the latter language was included in the Way Trust. CP 267, Il. 3-6. Presumably the attorney did not employ that language because in addition to the life estate created by the Trust in the surviving spouse, see ¶ 7(ii), CP 1573, Schedule E to the Trust set out specific bequests, effective immediately upon the death of Peter Way, to Marjory of the condominium and of a Toyota vehicle to Marjory. CP 1585.

The drafting attorney was, in his deposition, however, shown a second form of "Marital AB Trust", copyright 2006-2010, available from Maximillian Ventures, LLC. He testified that he did not recognize the form. CP 337, ll. 1-11. CP 465 and deposition Ex. 9, CP 465. He conceded, however, that the language of the trust he drafted for the Ways more closely resembled the form contained in Exhibit 9 to his deposition than the language contained in deposition Exhibit 6, the trust form he asserted that he had used in drafting the Way Trust. CP 326, ll. 17-25; 327-327; and 329, ll. 1-5. The Exhibit 9 form, like the Way Trust drafted by the attorney, for example, did not contain the language found in the Exhibit 6 form to the effect that there would be no distributions until the death of both spouses. In fact the Way Trust

as drafted made distributions in the form of specific bequests of the condo and car to Marjory immediately upon Peter's death. *See* Paragraph 6 of Way Trust, CP 1573, and Schedule E thereto. CP 1585. While the attorney did not specifically recall drafting the schedules for the Way Living Trust, CP 263, Il. 10-12, he testified that it was his practice to create the schedules from scratch. *Id.*, Il. 2-9.

The Exhibit 9 form, which is most similar to the Way Trust, was accompanied by instructions as to how to complete that form. CP 468-72. Those instructions indicated that the form allowed the trustor to name "Specific Beneficiaries" in the "appropriate Schedule" to the trust, who would receive "specific items of property" upon the trustor's death.

Id. at CP 470, ¶ 5. They also provided for the naming by each trustor of "Final Beneficiaries" who would be the persons entitled to receive all of the Trust property not designated to go to a "Specific Beneficiary". Id.

On the cross-motions for summary judgment brought before the trial court, Marjory argued that the reference to "remainder[s]" to Gary and Kristin in Schedule E was an affirmation by Peter of Gary and Kristin's status as "Final Beneficiaries" who would take the remainder

of the Trust after Marjory's death. CP 1573, ll. 15-18. Gary and Kristin argued that Peter intended that Marjory receive only the condo and the car rather than a life estate. CP 1330, ll. 11-33.

The trial court granted Marjory's motion for summary judgment. CP 198-201. It ruled that Peter intended that Marjory receive the specific bequests of the condo and car, and a life estate in Peter's Trust A. CP 199-200, Il. 21-25 and 1-6. Gary and Kristin would take under the Trust, but only as the remainder beneficiaries of Trust A, following Marjory's death. CP 200, ll. 7-9. The trial court also dismissed Gary and Kristin's claims for breach of contract, fraud and specific performance, and awarded Marjory her attorneys' fees and costs from Trust A, pursuant to RCW 11.96A.150. Id., 11. 16-18; see also App. 5. The Court of Appeals, in an unpublished opinion, affirmed the trial court. See Appendix A to Corrected Petition for Review. It held in part that Gary and Kirsten's additional claims had not been briefed and had therefore been abandoned. The Court also awarded Marjory her attorneys' fees on appeal pursuant to RCW 11.96A.150, the same statute as had been relied upon by the trial court. Id.

## III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only if one or more of the considerations found in RAP 13.4(b), see App. 3, are identified. Gary and Kristin have asserted, in support of their petition, only the presence of "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." *Id.* They by implication argue that the same issues of trust interpretation that were presented in this case will arise again because the trust form employed remains available to attorneys and other persons on the internet. Petition for Review at 19. No issue of substantial public interest exists here, however, where the disputed issue arose solely out of modifications to a trust form made by the attorney hired by Peter and Marjory Way to perform estate planning services, CP 886-887, ll. 25 and 1-23, and where the procedural rulings on the abandonment of claims and the attorneys' fee award are governed by settled law.

The issue that resulted in the filing of the TEDRA action in this case was whether the reference to "remainder[s]" in Gary and Kristin in Schedule E to the Way Living Trust was intended by the trustors to cause the immediate transfer of all of Peter's estate (other than the

condominium and the car), to them upon Peter's death, notwithstanding the express provisions elsewhere in the Trust for a life estate in Peter's surviving spouse. That issue was created not by the boilerplate provisions of a legal form available on the internet, but rather by the individualized drafting decisions of a single attorney. There is no basis for concern that the drafting decisions that led to this litigation, would, even if the trust forms were to be employed by other attorneys or lay persons in the future, be repeated. Those drafting decisions did not create an issue of "substantial public interest". RAP 13.4(b)(4). See App. 3.

Nor did the decision of Court of Appeals to decline review of the trial court's dismissal of Gary and Kristin's claims for breach of contract, fraud and specific performance do so. It is well-settled that an appellate court has the discretion to deny review of an issue not argued in a party's brief. Christian v. Tomeh, 191 Wn. App. 709, 727-28, 366 P.3d (2015). Gary and Kristin have shown no abuse in the exercise of that discretion by the Court of Appeals, and that exercise did not create an issue of substantial interest to the public. Nor did they show any abuse of discretion in the trial court's award of attorneys' fees

under RCW 11.96A.150. See App. 5. The Petition for Review should be denied.

## IV. REQUEST FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES

RCW 11.96A.150 provides for an award of attorney's fees in a TEDRA action, in the discretion of the court, from any party, including the estate, to any party.

(1) Either the superior court or any court on an appeal may, in its discretion, order costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, to be awarded to any party: (a) From any party to the proceedings; (b) from the assets of the estate or trust involved in the proceedings; or (c) from any nonprobate asset that is the subject of the proceedings. The court may order the costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, to be paid in such amount and in such manner as the court determines to be equitable. In exercising its discretion under this section, the court may consider any and all factors that it deems to be relevant and appropriate, which factors may but need not include whether the litigation benefits the estate or trust involved.

RCW 11.96A.150(1) (amended 2007). Marjory Way received an award of her attorneys' fees both at the trial court and before the Court of Appeals. Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j), see App. 4, she should receive a further award from the Trust for her attorneys' fees in answering this Petition.

## V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Petitioners Gary Way and Kristin Kirchner have failed to demonstrate the existence here of any issue of substantial public interest, the only consideration under RAP 13.4(b) upon which they relied in their petition. Their petition should therefore be denied, and Respondent, Marjory Way, should have an award of her attorneys' fees and costs in answering the petition, pursuant to RAP 18.1(j) and RCW 11.96A.150(1).

Respectfully submitted this 1046 of March, 2017.

NEWTON ◆ KIGHT L.L.P.

LORNA S. CORRIGAN

WSBA #13101

Attorney for Respondent
MARJORY WAY

1820 32nd Street

P. O. Box 79, Everett, WA 98206

(425) 259-5106

Fax: (425) 339-4145

Lorna@NewtonKight.com

## ER 802

## **HEARSAY RULE**

Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules, by other court rules, or by statute.